No. 69515-1-1

COURT OF APPEALS – DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SIMONA VULETIC and MICHAEL HELGESON, husband and wife,

Appellants

v.

DARRELL R. McKISSIC,

Respondent

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Morris Rosenberg, WSBA #5800 705 Second Avenue, Suite 1200 Seattle, WA 98104 (206)903-1010

Counsel for Appellant

I. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF THE CASE

Simona Vuletic and Michael Helgeson, a married couple (hereinafter collectively referred to as "Vuletic" unless the context indicates otherwise) were out for a Sunday drive on Eliot Avenue in Seattle on March 1, 2009. Mr. Helgeson was driving their VW Golf and Dr. Vuletic was in the passenger seat. A Toyota Highlander driven by Darrell McKissic (hereinafter "McKissic") collided with the passenger side of the Golf and totaled it. Dr. Vuletic in particular suffered significant injuries. Unable to resolve the claims, suit was commenced on December 27, 2011. On January 3, 2012, King County Deputy Sheriff Mark Hillard served the Complaint, Summons and Case Schedule on Jill Corr, the McKissic's nanny, at the McKissic residence filing a Return of Service that appeared regular on its face. (CP 5). McKissic appeared through counsel shortly thereafter. Interrogatories were served on defense counsel on February 2, 2012, which included Interrogatory No. 23: "Do you allege insufficiency of process or of service of process? If so, please state the facts upon which you base your allegation."

In the ensuing weeks and months up to late April, counsel for the parties had friendly communications and agreed to the exchange of information that would enable the defense to assess the claims with a view toward "early resolution" of the claim. On March 26, 2012, the ninety day period to serve process on the defendant and have it date back to the date of filing expired pursuant to RCW 4.16.170. On April 20, 2012,

McKissic's attorney filed an Answer to the lawsuit alleging as affirmative defenses lack of service of process, insufficiency of process, and the statute of limitations. (CP 10).

The parties by agreement scheduled for the same date (August 10, 2012) cross motions: the Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Striking Affirmative Defenses; and the Defendant's Motion to Dismiss. On that date Judge Monica J. Benton heard oral argument and entered an order granting the Defendant's Motion to Dismiss. (CP 216-217). She never formally ruled upon the Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Striking Affirmative Defenses but by implication that Motion must be viewed as denied. On October 9, 2012, Judge Benton entered an order denying the Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration. (CP 55). This appeal followed. The detailed facts relevant to specific Assignments of Error and the related Arguments will be set out as appropriate in the legal argument sections below.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The trial court erred in granting McKissic's Motion to Dismiss and in failing to grant Vuletic's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment.
- 2. The trial court erred in not holding that McKissic was served at his usual place of abode within the meaning of RCW 4.28.080(15) where process was served on an adult who was more connected to the abode than prior Washington cases approving service upon a person with lesser connections.

¹ The late filed Answer to the Complaint asserted the three affirmative defenses noted. Since the dispositive issue turns upon the sufficiency of service of process, for ease of reference, further discussion of the motion to dismiss and the affirmative defenses will simply reference sufficiency of service of process.

- The trial court erred in not holding that the affirmative defense of insufficiency of service of process was waived by the tactics and actions of the McKissic defense.
- 4. The trial court erred in not holding McKissic estopped from asserting the affirmative defense of insufficiency of service of process as a result of the manner his defense was conducted.
- 5. The trial court erred in not striking the affirmative defense of insufficiency of service as a sanction for McKissic's failure to answer interrogatories.
- The trial court erred in denying Vuletic's Motion for Reconsideration.

III. ARGUMENT WITH RELATED FACTS AND AUTHORITY

Review Is De Novo

The defense Motion to Dismiss asserted that McKissic had never been served and thus the statute of limitations had expired. (CP 82). The motion was supported and opposed by declarations and evidence outside the pleadings. Where matters outside the pleadings are considered the motion to dismiss is treated as a motion for summary judgment. Puget Sound Bulb Exchange v. Metal Buildings Insulation Inc., 9 Wn. App. 284, 513 P.2d 102 (1973). There was no substantial dispute as to the facts and the issue presented was a question of law for the trial court. As such on appeal the review is *de novo*. *See*, Bruff v. Main, 87 Wn. App. 609, 611, 943 P.2d 295 (1997), citing State v. Ralph Williams' North West Chrysler Plymouth, Inc., 82 Wash.2d 265, 269, 510 P.2d 233 (1973). Similarly, the

implied denial of the plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment to Strike Affirmative Defenses should be reviewed *de novo*.

Mckissic Was Served at His Usual Place of Abode Within the Meaning of RCW 4.28.080 (15). (Assignments of Error No. 1 and 2.)

Facts Related to Service

It is unchallenged that the service events that occurred on January 3, 2012, took place at McKissic's residence and usual place of abode. (CP 59). It is acknowledged that McKissic was not personally handed process. The Return of Service declares that McKissic was served by serving "a person of suitable age and discretion, then resident therein, at the shared residence and usual abode of the named party, by delivering such copy to and leaving it with, Jill Corr, nanny for the Defendant." (CP 5, 63). In contravention to his own return of service, the deputy sheriff later provided a declaration submitted in support of the McKissic Motion to Dismiss that stated that Jill Corr told him that "she did not live" at the McKissic residence. (CP 101). The issue as to this Assignment turns on whether or not service of process upon Jill Corr, the McKissic family nanny, was substantial compliance with RCW 4.28.080. That statute provides in relevant part:

Summons, how served. Service made in the modes provided in this section is personal service. The summons shall be served by delivering a copy thereof, as follows:

* * *

(15) In all other cases, to the defendant personally, or by leaving a copy of the summons at the house of his or her usual abode with some person of suitable age and discretion then resident therein.

The facts relevant to sufficiency of service of process are not in dispute. The nanny for the McKissic children, Jill Corr, testified in deposition that: on the morning of January 3, 2012, the deputy sheriff knocked on the door; she answered it; the deputy asked if this was the residence of Darrell McKissic; and she responded it was. (CP 80). When asked if Mr. McKissic was home, she responded that she did not know but then indicated that he was in the shower. (CP 80-81). The deputy inquired if she was related to the defendant and she said she was not, that she was the nanny and he asked if she was over 18 and she responded she was. (CP 81.) He indicated he had some important paperwork for the defendant; asked her if she would make sure that he got them; and she responded that she would and she took the papers. (Id.) She placed them on the kitchen counter. (Id.) Shortly thereafter, Mr. McKissic came downstairs and she told him about the documents and she saw him head in the direction of where she had placed the documents. (Id.) She and McKissic did not discuss the papers again but that same day she told Ms.

Nellermoe, McKissic's wife who is an attorney, about the papers being left for Mr. McKissic and Ms. Nellermoe thanked her. (CP 51: 91).

Ms. Corr had worked for the McKissic family as the nanny to their three children from 2004 to 2006 at which time she moved away to attend college. (CP 78). In 2008, she returned and resumed employment as the children's' nanny. (Id). She always had a key to the residence during the times she worked for McKissic. (CP 61). She works every school day from about 6:30 A.M. until she drives one of the children to school around 8:15 A.M. and while she was free to return to the house to study her own place was nearby so she typically returned each afternoon either picking one child up at school or meeting both children when they would return to the McKissic home around 2:30 P.M. and then worked there until about 6:30 P.M. (CP 59-60; 78-79). She stayed overnight in the McKissic home while he, his wife and one of the younger children travelled out of state to return their older daughter to college, the last time before service of process being the fall of 2011. (CP 60-61; 79). Additionally, even though McKissic was still in town, in April 2012, Ms. Corr stayed overnight to care for the younger daughter when Ms. Nellermoe left town. (*Id.*).

McKissic acknowledged that he was at his home at the time the deputy came to the house on January 3, 2012, and was upstairs in the bathroom or master bedroom. (CP 62). When he came downstairs to

leave for work, the nanny told him of the papers that she had placed on the kitchen counter. (CP 61). He picked up the papers and moved them to a basket in his home office. (*Id.*) He did not pay much attention to them because his attorney had advised him that he would be served at some point. (CP 61-62). There was no question that the papers were the summons, complaint, and civil case schedule. (*Id.*) He knows what legal papers are, and knew he was the defendant in a lawsuit arising from the accident of March 1, 2009. (CP 62).

Authority and Argument Related to Service

While some jurisdictions may require exact compliance with service of process statutes, at least since 1996 such is no longer the case in Washington. Where service was not in perfect compliance with the statute, but was so close that to avoid the harshest of unjust results (dismissal), the Washington Supreme Court has found service to be satisfactory in circumstance that were less compelling than the instant case. In Sheldon v. Fettig, 129 Wn.2d 601, 919 P.2d 1209 (1996), the issue was the sufficiency of service where the summons and complaint were left with the defendant's twelve year old brother at her parents' home. There was no question that although the defendant maintained some ties with her parents' home, she had moved to and lived in Chicago for some eight months prior to the attempted service. The suit was filed

six days before the running of the statute of limitations. The service occurred some 30 days later. Fettig filed his appearance shortly thereafter and with three weeks yet remaining before the 90 day statutory period to have service date back pursuant to RCW 4.16.170, the defense filed an Answer raising the sufficiency of process.² To reach a just result the Court held that for service of process purposes the defendant had two houses of "usual abode". 129 Wn.2d at p. 611. The Court stated:

In interpreting substitute service of process statutes, strict construction was once the guiding principle of statutory construction. See Muncie v. Westcraft Corp., 58 Wn.2d 36, 38, 360 P.2d 744 (1961). However, more recently, we have applied liberal construction to substitute service of process statutes in order to effectuate the purpose of the statute while adhering to its spirit and intent.

129 Wn.2d at 607. The court cited earlier Washington cases where strict compliance in various service statutes was not required. 129 Wn.2d at 607-8. The Court went on to state:

We therefore conclude "house of [defendant's] usual abode" in RCW 4.28.080(15) is to be liberally construed to effectuate service and uphold jurisdiction of the court. This is consistent with our procedural rules in (1) RCW 1.12.010, which mandates that "[t]he provisions of this code shall be liberally construed, and shall not be limited by any rule of strict construction"; and (2) CR 1, which states the rules "shall be construed to secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action," which promotes

² This is unlike the instant case where the McKissic defense gave the plaintiff no indication within the 90 day period that there was going to be a service issue. Despite the issue having timely been raised in <u>Sheldon v. Fettig</u>, the court still found the service sufficient. This is significant to the argument beginning *infra* at p. 18 concerning waiver.

a policy to decide cases on their merits. Indeed, " '[m]odern rules of procedure are intended to allow the court to reach the merits, as opposed to disposition on technical niceties.' (Citations omitted.)

129 Wn.2d at 609. Rather than an issue of substantial compliance as to "usual abode", the instant case involves deciding if service on the nanny was sufficient in light of her contacts to the McKissic residence. However, the principle of <u>Sheldon</u> would be that in appropriate circumstance substantial compliance can be sufficient.

Justice Talmadge in his dissent in <u>Sheldon</u> laid out the history of the case law commenting that the Court had lurched "between liberal and stringent interpretations of statutes and rules without a firm anchor in principle." 129 Wn.2d at p. 612. He went on at length in his dissent to lament that the majority was upholding service of process even in the absence of the strict compliance which is what he would apply. A year later, Justice Talmadge wrote for the majority in <u>Salts v. Estes</u>, 133 Wn.2d 160, 170, 943 P.2d 275 (1997), determining that service was insufficient, a case McKissic will likely cite in his brief. The service that was stricken in <u>Salts</u> was upon a neighbor who was checking on the house while the defendant was on vacation and by happenstance was there when the process server came. The four justice dissent in <u>Salts</u>, relying upon <u>Sheldon</u> and its analysis, would have upheld even that service. The facts

in the instant case are not like <u>Salts</u> in that the nanny had vastly more connection to the McKissic residence than did the neighbor doing a favor in <u>Salts</u> and McKissic was even at home and picked up the papers from where the nanny told him she had placed them within a few minutes of the service events.

The Sheldon court relied on Wichert v. Cardwell, 117 Wn.2d 148, 812 P.2d 858 (1991). In Wichert the service was made upon an the adult daughter of the defendant's wife who happened to be staying overnight in the defendant's home while her mother and the defendant were away. The daughter did not live there, was self-supporting and kept no possessions there. In describing the Wichert decision, the Sheldon court stated:

We focused on the "spirit and intent of the statute" rather than "the literal letter of the law" and stated that the term should be defined so as to uphold the underlying purpose of the statute. *Id.* at 151. We held the dual purpose of the statute is to (1) provide means to serve defendants in a fashion reasonably calculated to accomplish notice and (2) allow injured parties a reasonable means to serve defendants. Wichert, 117 Wash.2d at 151-52. The court found an adult family member who was in sole control of the home while its inhabitants were away would likely present the papers to defendant. *Id.* at 152. Because the underlying rationale was thus met, the court held that the daughter fit within the statutory definition of "then resident therein." *Id.* at 153.

129 Wn.2d at 608.

Jill Corr was much more aligned to the McKissic' household than the step-daughter of the defendant in Wichert who by happenstance was spending one night there when process was served. As set out in the fact recitation above, Jill Corr had always had a key to the McKissic house; she was there every weekday morning by 6:30 A.M.; she was responsible for feeding, preparing, and getting the McKissic children off to school; she returned to the home every weekday about 2:30 P.M. to be there for the children and to care for them until about 6:30 P.M. essentially invited by McKissic and his wife to treat the home as her own during the day and she stayed overnight on occasion. She told the Sheriff Deputy that she would make sure that Mr. McKissic got the papers and she did within a few minutes! Furthermore, to ensure that the importance of the served papers was not lost on the defendant, Ms. Corr informed McKissic's wife, an attorney, later that day that the papers have been delivered. Obviously in light of the responsibilities that McKissic and his wife placed upon Ms. Corr for the welfare of their children for many years with free run of and access to their home, they considered her a "responsible adult", and her actions confirmed her as such.

In <u>Brown-Edwards v. Powell</u>, 144 Wn. App. 109, 182 P.3d 441 (2008), the process server mistakenly served a neighbor (Shirley Vertress) of the defendant (Shirley Powell). Ms. Vertress, realizing the papers were

for her neighbor, subsequently delivered the papers to the defendant. The neighbor on a subsequent date signed an affidavit relating those facts. The defendant moved to dismiss on the basis of insufficient service of process. The trial court denied dismissal and Division III affirmed. In analyzing the assertion that the neighbor had in fact served the defendant the court stated:

Ms. Vertrees certainly meets the criteria for a process server. Nothing in the rule requires that a process server have a contractual obligation to serve process. CR 4(c). Nor is there any requirement of proof of intent to serve process. CR 4(c). And we find nothing that would prohibit a person who comes into possession of a summons and complaint by defective service from being a competent process server. CR 4(c). The rule prohibits only a party to the action from serving process. CR 4(c). We conclude then that Ms. Vertrees was a competent process server. CR 4(c). (Citations and references to Appellant's Brief omitted).

144 Wn. App. at 111-12.

A distinction between the <u>Brown-Edwards</u> facts and those of the instant case, is that while Ms. Corr has not filed a declaration of service as proof under CR 4(g)(2), her testimony under oath should be deemed the equivalent as examination at deposition proceeds the same as "permitted at trial" and is taken on oath. CR 30(c). The instant case is actually stronger than <u>Brown-Edwards</u> in that in the instant case all the service events happened at the Defendant's residence and the defendant has sworn in deposition that the he in fact received the summons, complaint

and case schedule at his residence (usual place of abode) on the date the deputy came to serve him and within a few minutes of the papers being given to the nanny.

Clearly there is no constitutional problem here since McKissic was at his home, received the papers within a few minutes of them being given the nanny, turned them over to his insurance carrier as he had been expecting them, and proceeded to appear through counsel and defend. Had he never received the process and was moving to set aside a default, then it would be a different analysis but such is not the case here. To put "form over substance" under the facts of the instant case would be to deny justice to Vuletic and be contrary to the policy discussion noted above from Sheldon as to effectuating the policy of the service statutes. The misconduct of the deputy sheriff, which was totally unknown to Vuletic and their counsel until the defense filed the deputy's declaration, is of course not to be condoned. But the defense effort to make the Sheriff's Department (King County) out as the "bad" actor upon whom responsibility for the injuries to Vuletic should fall, would be a perversion of justice under the facts of this case.

The Affirmative Defenses Attacking Service of Process Were Waived By the Tactics and Actions of the Mckissic Defense.

(Assignments of Error No. 1 and 3.)

Facts Related to Waiver

On January 5, 2012, a verbal "notice of appearance" was made by phone call to Vuletic's attorney (hereinafter "Rosenberg") (CP 32) and on January 26, 2012, McKissic's counsel (hereinafter "Bendele") emailed a Notice of Appearance and served a hard copy the next day. (CP 37-40). Later on January 26, Bendele and Rosenberg exchanged emails with Rosenberg inquiring if Bendele had been provided the plaintiffs' settlement package that had been sent to the insurance carrier and offering to stipulate to the securing of medical records. (CP 32, 41-42). Bendele confirmed he had the settlement package and asked for the names of plaintiffs' pre-accident health care providers for preparation of stipulations. (Id.). Rosenberg responded on January 27, with details as to Dr. Vuletic's treatment providers along with prior medical providers and requesting that Bendele provide the stipulations to secure records and requesting that once secured, duplicates of the records be provided Rosenberg. (CP 32, 43).

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