69515-1

No. 69515-1-1

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SIMONA VULETIC and MICHAEL HELGESON, husband and wife,

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

*

Wn.App. 419, 628 P.2d 851 (1981); <u>Bauer v. Bauer</u>, 5 Wn.App. 781, 490 P.2d 1350 (1971); <u>In re Russell</u>, 54 Wn.2d 882, 344 P.2d 507 (1959); <u>In re</u> <u>the Estate of Stoops</u>, 118 Wn. 153, 203 P. 22 (1922).

The <u>French</u> court stated that once the defendant was late in filing his answer, the plaintiff could have moved for a default judgment pursuant to CR 55(a), but he chose not to. In conclusion, the Supreme Court held:

Nonetheless, we agree with the Court of Appeals that "[w]hile not to be condoned, mere delay in filing an answer does not constitute a waiver of an insufficient service defense.

French, 57 Wn.App. at 222, 788 P.2d 569.

.

Here, McKissic's conduct is consistent with the conduct of the defendant in the <u>French</u> decision. Although McKissic did not timely file an answer, Vuletic never: (1) requested an answer prior to the running of the 90-day tolling period; (2) move for default; or (3) request or seek to compel discovery responses. In addition, McKissic never invoked or benefited from the court's jurisdiction. McKissic never issued a subpoena or conducted a deposition. Rather, he merely appeared in the case so as to avoid a default judgment and then served only perfunctory and generic discovery responses, which CR 33 specifically allows to occur prior to service of process. Furthermore, McKissic only discovered the deficiency of service after the expiration of the 90-day tolling period.

In this case, there simply is no indicia of "lying in wait" or deceit on the part of McKissic. This is a critical element and requisite finding of the Washington line of cases holding that it is possible for a defendant to waive his due process rights and the affirmative defense of insufficiency of process. Such stringent scrutiny is applied because absent proper service, a defendant's right to due process has been violated. Consequently, waiver is not an appropriate remedy in this matter, especially given the fact that the process server knew that his attempted service was not effective. Misrepresentation should never be allowed to serve as the basis for service of process. Vuletic's remedy should now lie against the process server who knowingly filed a false Return of Service.

c. Service of Process Defense Is Not Waived by Untimely Answer—<u>Gerean</u> Case

In <u>Gerean v. Martin-Joven</u>, 108 Wn.App. 963, 33 P.3d 427 (2001), the plaintiff served the defendant's father at a place that was not the defendant's usual place of abode. <u>Id.</u> at 967-968. According to the process server, the father stated that the daughter would be back later and accepted the service paper. <u>Id.</u> The defendant's counsel filed a notice of appearance reserving all affirmative defenses. <u>Id.</u> Defendant's counsel also requested a copy of the return of service, which was never provided but was filed with the court. <u>Id.</u> intentional evasion by Huynh. Rather, the record indicates that it was a result of the process server's mistaken belief that he personally served Huynh and Streeter–Dybdahl's failure to correct that error before the service deadline."

Here, as discussed above, the process server's conduct was not mere "mistaken belief" as was the case in <u>Streeter-Dybdahl</u>. It went much further. The process server knew service was improper when he handed nanny Corr the papers and, nevertheless, filed a false Return of Service. If waiver is prohibited when the process server was mistaken like in <u>Streeter-Dybdahl</u>, plaintiff waiver argument should most certainly not be allowed when the process server had actual knowledge of the insufficiency of service and nevertheless filed a false Return of Service. As was the case in <u>Streeter-Dybdahl</u>, Defendant did not intentionally deceive or evade plaintiff regarding service of process. In Washington, it is plaintiff's burden to ensure service is proper. 15A Tegland and Ende, <u>Washington Practice</u>, § 15.6 (2011-2012), at p. 218.

C. <u>The Court Should Affirm Dismissal Because McKissic's</u> <u>Behavior Does Not Warrant Estoppel</u>

The doctrine of equitable estoppel is based on the notion that a party who makes a representation should be held to that representation when another relies in good faith with detrimental results. <u>Lybbert</u> at 35.

The elements of equitable estoppel are: (1) an admission, statement or act inconsistent with a claim afterwards asserted, (2) action by another in reasonable reliance, and (3) injury to the relying party from allowing the first party to change or repudiate the prior admission, statement, or act. <u>Id.</u>

1. No Estoppel Where Misrepresentations Were Made By Third Party

Courts have held that the doctrine of equitable estoppel does not bar a defendant from raising the defense of insufficient service where the misrepresentation was made by someone other than the defendant. <u>Gerean</u>, 108 Wn. App. 963.

In <u>Gerean</u>, the process server attempted to serve a defendant at her father's residence. <u>Id.</u> at 967-8. The process server claimed that the father misled him into believing the defendant lived at the residence when the father stated that the daughter would return later in the day when, in fact, the daughter actually lived in a different city. <u>Id.</u> The Court refused to apply the doctrine of estoppel to bar the service of process defense. The Court reasoned that "[the defendant] was not estopped from acting inconsistently with a statement by a third party." <u>Id.</u> at 974.

As in <u>Gerean</u> where the misrepresentation regarding service was made by a third party (the defendant's father), here, it was Vuletic's own process server who made the misrepresentation regarding service. Deputy Sheriff Hillard left the service papers with nanny Corr even though he knew she was not a resident in McKissic's home. Furthermore, he knowingly signed a false Return of Service to state that he had served a resident in McKissic's place of usual abode. (CP 100-101). McKissic should not be estopped from asserting the service of process defense merely because it contradicts a representation made by Vuletic's own process server.

2. No Estoppel Where Defendant Remains Silent or Fails To Complain of Defective Service

The plaintiff in <u>Gerean</u> also argued that estoppel applied because she "reasonably perceived [defendant's] appearance in the action and her failure to complain about the manner of service as a representation that all was well." However, the Court disagreed and held:

[e]stoppel will not lie where both parties are in a position to determine the law and the facts. <u>Lybbert</u>, 141 Wash.2d at 35, 1 <u>P.3d 1124</u>. Nothing in the record hints that [plaintiff] made any attempt to find out [defendant's] current address or that [defendant] was not available to receive properly tendered service.

Gerean at 974.

In this case, the fact that McKissic did not alert Vuletic to the deficiency of service does not estop him from asserting such a defense. Here, both parties had equal access to the law and the facts. There is no indication that Vuletic made any attempt to question the process server

.

and confirm that service was properly made. Vuletic could easily have done so. Furthermore, Vuletic should have been vigilant as to the issue of service of process considering she had less than 90 days to effectuate service. When she noticed that service papers were left with a nanny rather than a person with the same last name as defendant, she should have questioned her process server further to confirm that the nanny was indeed a resident. She should have moved for default if no answer was filed.

D. <u>The Court Should Affirm Dismissal Because McKissic's</u> Failure to Respond to Discovery Does Not Warrant Sanctions

1. No Duty to Respond To Discovery Where Service Is Insufficient

As with a defendant's answer to complaint, a defendant's answers to a plaintiff's interrogatories are not due and will not be due until after being served with process.

CR 33(a) states:

Interrogatories may, without leave of court, be served upon the plaintiff after the summons and a copy of the complaint are served upon the defendant, or the complaint is filed, whichever shall first occur, and upon any other party [i.e. Defendant] with or after service of the summons and complaint upon that party.

(Underline added.)

.

Washington's civil rules do not require a defendant to answer interrogatories until he has been served with a summons and complaint. Here, service never occurred. Therefore, Defendant was never obligated or required to answer Vuletic's interrogatories (or Vuletic's Complaint).

2. No Support for Imposing CR 37 Discovery Sanctions

Even if McKissic were required to respond to Dr. Vueltic's discovery requests, Vuletic's argument that McKissic's affirmative defense should be dismissed as a discovery sanction is unsupported by Washington law. Importantly, McKissic's counsel was unable to find any case law directly on point that would support Vuletic's CR 37 argument and the Vuletic has cited none. "Where no authorities are cited in support of a proposition, the court is not required to search out authorities, but may assume that counsel, after diligent search, has found none." <u>State v.</u> Young, 89 Wn.2d 613, 625, 574 P.2d 1171, 1179 (1978).

While not directly on-point, Vuletic cites to the <u>Lybbert</u> decision to support her argument that defense of service of process should be dismissed as a discovery sanction. This argument fails for two reasons.

First, the facts of this case are distinct from the facts of <u>Lybbert</u>. The conduct of the defendant in <u>Lybbert</u> went well beyond merely failing to respond to discovery requests by a few weeks as was the case here. In <u>Lybbert</u>, the defendant participated in the case and litigated it for nine months. <u>Id.</u> at 32-34. The defendant's counsel associated with an outside law firm, which presumptively involved contract and term negotiations with the associating counsel, and filed a notice of association of counsel. <u>Id.</u> Critically, the defendant "did more than just undertake discovery. ... its [employee] contacted [plaintiff's] counsel in order to make certain that the [defendant] correctly understood the nature and extent of the [plaintiff's] interrogatories." <u>Id.</u> at 42.

Secondly, the Court's decision to bar defendant's service of process defense in <u>Lybbert</u> was not based upon CR 37. The Court barred defendant from asserting the defense of service of process based upon the doctrine of estoppel for actively engaging in discovery and litigation for a period of nine months rather than as a sanction for untimely discovery.

3. Vuletic Failed To Follow CR 26 "Meet and Confer" Requirement

King County LCR 37 states:

(a)-(c) [Reserved].

(d) Failure of Party to ... Serve Answers to Interrogatories... If a party ... fails ... (2) to serve answers or objections to interrogatories submitted under rule 33, after proper service of the interrogatories ... the court in which the action is pending on motion may make such orders in regard to the failure as are just, and among others, it may take any action authorized under CR 37.

(e) Conference of Counsel . See CR 26 (i)

CR 26(i) states:

.

Motions; Conference of Counsel Required. The court will not entertain any motion or objection with respect to rules 26 through 37 unless counsel have conferred with respect to the motion or objection. Counsel for the moving or objecting party shall arrange for a mutually convenient conference in person or by telephone. ... Any motion seeking an order to compel discovery or obtain protection shall include counsel's certification that the conference requirements of this rule have been met.

.

Here, Vuletic did not request answers to interrogatories or request a discovery conference as required by CR 26. To be clear, Vuletic have not merely failed to certify that a discovery conference occurred, they have failed to ever conduct the requisite discovery conference. Consequently this court may not entertain any motions or issue any sanctions with respect to CR 26 through 37. Defendant has been unable to find any case law supporting the plaintiffs' CR 37 argument and the plaintiffs have cited none. "Where no authorities are cited in support of a proposition, the court is not required to search out authorities, but may assume that counsel, after diligent search, has found none." <u>State v.</u> Young, 89 Wn.2d 613, 625, 574 P.2d 1171, 1179 (1978).

At the trial court level, Vuletic accused McKissic's counsel of misreading and misstating the holding of <u>Amy v. Kmart of Washington</u> <u>LLC</u>, 153 Wn. App 846, 223 P.3d 1247 (2009). Counsel has reread the decision and stands by its statements made to the trial court during oral argument. That is, <u>Amy</u> concerns "a defective CR 26(i) <u>certification</u>," not

a total absence of a CR 26 <u>conference</u>. The <u>Amy</u> decision states as follows:

Kmart next argues that the court erred by deciding that it could hear the motion to compel and to supplement discovery because Amy's CR 26(i) <u>certification</u> was allegedly defective. We hold that the trial court correctly exercised its discretion to hear this motion.

Id. at 860, 1254. (Underline added.) Further, Footnote 35 states:

Actually, the plaintiff's attorney does not <u>certify</u> that he has 'met' with the defense attorney. However, because the defense has not objected to this requirement being met and that the attorneys are over 100 miles apart the court deems this requirement waived.

Id. (Underline added.)

.....

The court went on to state:

The trial court did not demonstrate an erroneous view of CR 26(i) by deciding to hear this discovery motion. Kmart argues that Amy's CR 26(i) <u>certification</u> is facially deficient. Specifically, Kmart claims that the <u>certification</u> does not indicate that the CR 26(i) conference was in person or by telephone, and does not indicate that the conference addressed the motion, as opposed to the underlying discovery dispute. For the following reasons, we reject this assertion.

Id. (Underline added.)

Contrary to the plaintiffs' interpretation, <u>Amy</u> is concerned with whether a discovery conference certification that fails to specifically use the words "met and conferred" is sufficient. <u>Amy</u> stands for the proposition that the certification does not need to use the magic words "met and conferred" in order to comply with CR 26. However, it does not state that no CR 26(i) discovery conference is required pursuant to King County LCR 37. The local rule is clearly written and requires a conference before sanctions may be awarded.

Vuletic also misinterprets <u>Magana v. Hyundai Motor America</u>, 167 Wn.2d 570, 220 P.2d 191 (2009). There, it appears that CR 26(1) was not discussed because it was not an issue. Magana moved for a motion to compel discovery and the fact that the decision does not mention a CR 26(i) conference implies on occurred and was properly certified in Magana's motion.

E. <u>Conclusion</u>

Plaintiff waited until shortly before the statute of limitations to file suit. Plaintiffs' experienced process server, King County Deputy Sheriff Mark Hillard, handed the Summons and Complaint to Defendant's nanny, Jill Corr, who explicitly told the deputy Sheriff that she was not a resident. She also told him that Defendant McKissic was at home and upstairs. Despite knowing that it was improper to serve a nonresident, the deputy Sheriff did not simply request the nanny to ask McKissic to come to the door. Rather, he handed the papers to the nanny and signed a false Return of Service stating that she was a resident when she had explicitly told him that she was not.

When the defendant's attorneys realized that the Return of Service was false, an Answer was immediately filed and served asserting the affirmative defenses of lack of service of process, insufficiency of process, and statute of limitations. Plaintiffs were immediately notified and a personal phone conference was scheduled.

Regarding waiver:

A waiver is the intentional and voluntary relinquishment of a known right or such conduct as warrants an inference of the relinquishment of such right. It is a voluntary act which implies a choice, by the party, to dispense with something of value or to forego some advantage. [citation omitted]. The one claimed to have waived a right must intend to relinquish such right, advantage or benefit and her actions must be inconsistent with any other intention than to waive them.

Public Utility Dist. No. 1 of Lewis County v. Washington Public Power

Supply System, 104 Wn.2d 353, 365, 705 P.2d 1195, 1204 - 1205 (1985).

Waiver is essentially a matter of intention. Negligence, oversight or thought-lessness does not create it.

Reynolds Metals Co. v. Electric Smith Const. & Equipment Co., 4 Wn.

App. 695, 700-701, 483 P.2d 880, 883 (1971). Waiver is simply not

present or applicable in this case.

Regarding estoppel:

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